# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

1-22-2010

## Amboh v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 36779

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal from the summary dismissal of Jason Amboh's petition for post-conviction relief. Clerk's Record (R) 76-79.

#### B. Procedural History and Statement of Facts

On March 11, 2009, Mr. Amboh filed a *pro se* petition for post-conviction relief. In the petition, Mr. Amboh stated that he pled guilty to DUI and was sentenced on June 21, 2007. R 1.

Mr. Amboh alleged three grounds for relief in his petition: 1) that trial counsel did not file a timely appeal; 2) that trial counsel and the state appellate defender did not inform him when his appeal was "denied"; and 3) that he received ineffective assistance of counsel during the criminal case and/or on appeal. R 2.

Mr. Amboh appended a letter to his petition from his public defender, Robert Eldredge. The letter, dated August 14, 2007, states that Mr. Eldredge had received Mr. Amboh's letter dated August 12, 2007, which requested that a notice of appeal be filed. However, Mr. Eldredge stated that the letter had arrived too late for a timely notice of appeal. Nonetheless, Mr. Eldredge stated, "I have filed the Appeal anyway." (Emphasis original.) Mr. Eldredge's letter further stated that he did not believe that an appeal would be helpful and that Mr. Amboh could pursue post-conviction relief citing Criminal Rule 57. R 8.

Mr. Amboh's petition also included an affidavit from Molly Huskey of the State Appellate Defender. Ms. Huskey stated that her office was appointed to represent Mr. Amboh on direct appeal on August 15, 2007. R 9. However, he was not assigned an individual attorney at that time, because the transcripts and record were not yet available. R 10. And, before Mr.

Amboh could be assigned an individual attorney, his appeal was dismissed as untimely. R. 11-12. Because Mr. Amboh did not have an individual attorney assigned, no letter was sent to him notifying him of the dismissal of his appeal. R 12. Further, he did not contact SAPD until February 2, 2009, and at that time, a review of the status of the case was made. R 12.

Counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Amboh on his petition. R 44.

The state moved for summary dismissal. R 50. Following oral argument, the District Court summarily dismissed the petition on two grounds: 1) it was untimely; and 2) there was no genuine issue of fact in dispute. Tr. p. 10, ln. 5 - p. 11, ln. 17. In dismissing the petition, the Court stated:

It's a jurisdictional issue. If we had the standard that defendant didn't know, they would all claim they didn't know and there wouldn't be any time limit at all to file post conviction because they would all claim they didn't know the proverbial 'disposition' of the case.

Tr. p. 10, ln. 18-24.

This appeal timely followed. R 67.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Should the statute of limitation be tolled given that Mr. Amboh's petition raises important due process claims and he did not discover the facts underlying his claims until after the time period had run?
- 2. Did Mr. Amboh's petition alleging trial counsel's ineffectiveness in failing to file a timely notice of appeal raise a genuine issue of material fact?

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Statute of Limitation Should Have Been Tolled Until Mr. Amboh Discovered the Facts Underlying his Claim.

The District Court erred in not finding that the statute of limitation was tolled due to the admitted failure of defense counsel, both trial counsel and appellate counsel, to notify Mr.

Amboh of the dismissal of his appeal.

Idaho Code § 19-4902(a) requires that petitions for post-conviction relief be filed "within one year from the expiration of the time for appeal or from the determination of an appeal or from the determination of proceedings following an appeal, whichever is later." And, the failure to file a timely petition is a basis for dismissal, unless the petitioner has shown a reason why the statute of limitation should be tolled. *Person v. State*, 147 Idaho 453, 454, 210 P.3d 561, 562 (Ct. App. 2009), citing *Evensioky v. State*, 136 Idaho 189, 191, 30 P.3d 967, 969 (2001) and *Sayas v. State*, 139 Idaho 957, 959, 88 P.3d 776, 778 (Ct. App. 2003). The question of whether the District Court erred in not tolling the post-conviction statute of limitation is subject to free review. *Person, supra*.

The time limitation for filing a post-conviction petition should be enlarged when the petitioner has been effectively denied access to the courts. *Sayas v. State, supra,* citing *Anderson v. State,* 133 Idaho 788, 792, 992 P.2d 783, 787 (Ct. App. 1999). While the bar for equitable tolling is high, tolling is appropriate in at least three situations: 1) where the petitioner was incarcerated in an out-of-state facility on an in-state conviction without legal representation or access to Idaho legal materials; 2) where mental disease and/or psychotropic medication rendered a petitioner incompetent and prevented the petitioner from earlier pursing a challenge to his

conviction; and 3) where the post-conviction claim raises important due process issues, the limitation period may be postponed until the petitioner has discovered the factual basis for the claim. *Judd v. State*, 148 Idaho 22, 25, 218 P.3d 1, 4 (Ct. App. 2009), *rev. denied*, citing *Martinez v. State*, 130 Idaho 530, 536, 944 P.2d 127, 133 (Ct. App. 1994); *Sayas v. State*, *supra*; *Abbott v. State*, 129 Idaho 381, 385, 924 P.2d 1225, 1229 (Ct. App. 1996); *Charboneau v. State*, 144 Idaho 900, 904-05, 174 P.3d 870, 874-75 (2008).

Mr. Amboh's case involves this third ground for tolling. Mr. Amboh's petition raises an important due process claim; specifically, the claim that counsel did not file a timely appeal. *See, Judd v. State, supra, citing Roe v. Flores-Ortega,* 528 U.S. 470, 120 S.Ct. 1029 (2000); *Goodwin v. State,* 138 Idaho 269, 272-73, 61 P.3d 626, 629-30 (Ct. App. 2002); *LaBelle v. State,* 130 Idaho 115, 119, 937 P.2d 427, 431 (Ct.App. 1997); *Hassett v. State,* 127 Idaho 313, 900 P.2d 221 (Ct. App. 313, 900 P.2d 221 (Ct. App. 1995); *Mata v. State,* 124 Idaho 588, 591-93, 861 P.2d 1253, 1256-58 (Ct. App. 1993). Likewise, Mr. Amboh's claims that trial counsel was ineffective raise a significant due process claim as the state and federal constitutions require effective assistance of counsel in criminal trials. *Strickland v. Washington,* 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); *Hassett v. State,* 127 Idaho at 316, 900 P.2d at 224. As set out in *Rhoades v. State,* \_\_\_\_\_ Idaho \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_\_ 2009 WL 3415732 \* 5 "... the serious due process concerns enunciated in *Charboneau* encompass cases involving access to the courts claims. It would similarly cover claims of incompetency." (Citations omitted.)

Further, Mr. Amboh did not discover the facts underlying his claim of failure to file a timely appeal until after the limitation period had run. Mr. Amboh was specifically told by trial counsel that a direct appeal had been filed. And, neither trial counsel nor appellate counsel told

him when his direct appeal was dismissed. Rather, he did not find out that his appeal had been dismissed until February 2, 2009. And, he filed his petition for post-conviction relief less than six weeks later, on March 11, 2009.

Under these circumstances, the District Court erred in summarily dismissing Mr. Amboh's petition on the grounds that it was untimely. Mr. Amboh's petition raised an important due process claim and he did not discover the facts underlying his claim, that counsel's late filing of a notice of appeal was not effective and that his appeal was dismissed, until after the statute of limitation had run. Under these circumstances, the statute of limitation should have been tolled. *Judd, supra.* 

B. The Question of Whether Counsel Rendered Ineffective Assistance by Failing to File a Timely Notice of Appeal is a Genuine Issue of Material Fact.

The District Court dismissed Mr. Amboh's petition not only because it believed it was untimely, but also because it believed that the petition did not raise a genuine issue of material fact. However, it is clear that the issue Mr. Amboh pled, whether counsel was ineffective when he failed to file a timely notice of appeal, raises a genuine issue of material fact and the District Court's decision to the contrary should be reversed.

Post-conviction proceedings are civil proceedings governed by the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. *Rhoades v. State, supra* at 3.

... On review of a dismissal of a post-conviction relief application without an evidentiary hearing, this Court determines whether a genuine issue of fact exists based on the pleadings, depositions and admissions together with any affidavits on file and will liberally construe the facts and reasonable inferences in favor of the non-moving party. However, 'while the underlying facts must be regarded as true, the petitioner's conclusions need not be so accepted.'

Id., at 3-4 (citations omitted). See also, Hauschulz v. State, 144 Idaho 834, 838-9, 172 P.3d

1109, 1113-4 (2007) (standard of liberal construction is applied in order to avoid dismissal of an inartfully drawn complaint that gives adequate notice of the claims sought to be asserted).

In this case, Mr. Amboh raised a claim that trial counsel had been ineffective in failing to file a timely notice of appeal. And, indeed, the record bears this out. Mr. Amboh's direct appeal was dismissed because the notice of appeal was untimely. This claim does raise a genuine issue of material fact.

Per *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 477, 120 S.Ct. at 1035, an attorney who disregards specific instructions from a client to file a notice of appeal has rendered constitutionally unreasonable assistance. Likewise, an attorney who follows the explicit instructions of a client not to file a notice of appeal has not rendered unreasonable assistance. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S.Ct. at 2052. *See also, Goodwin v. State*, 138 Idaho at 272, 61 P.3d at 629.

In cases in the middle, where the client has neither instructed counsel to file or not to file a notice of appeal, a separate, but antecedent, question must be addressed: whether counsel in fact consulted with the client about an appeal. If counsel did consult with the client, counsel's performance is deficient only if he/she failed to follow the client's express instructions. And, if counsel has not consulted with the client, then a second subsidiary question must be addressed: whether counsel's failure to consult amounts to deficient performance. Counsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the client about an appeal when there is reason to think either (1) that a rational client would want to appeal (for example, when there are non-frivolous grounds for appeal), or (2) that this particular client has reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he/she was interested in appealing. In making this determination, the court must take into account all the information counsel knew or should have known. *Flores-Ortega*, 528

U.S. at 479, 120 S.Ct. at 1036. *Goodwin*, 138 Idaho at 273, 61 P.3d at 630, "If counsel has not consulted with the defendant, then counsel's performance in failing to consult with the defendant is itself deficient if a rational defendant would want to appeal or the particular defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he or she was interested in appealing."

To show prejudice if counsel has rendered deficient performance in not consulting with the client, it must be shown that if not for the failure to consult, the client would have timely appealed. *Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 484, 120 S.Ct. at 1038. *Goodwin, supra*.

In this case, Mr. Amboh alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in not filing a timely notice of appeal. And, the state admitted that a timely notice was not filed. This raised a genuine issue of material fact. If the failure to file the notice of appeal occurred despite Mr. Amboh's request to file an appeal, then the failure was deficient performance and there is a presumption of prejudice requiring post-conviction relief. *Flores-Ortega*, 120 S.Ct. at 483, 120 S.Ct. at 1038. And, if the failure occurred in the absence of either direction from Mr. Amboh or consultation regarding appellate rights from counsel, then the secondary question must be addressed: whether counsel had a constitutional duty to consult with Mr. Amboh. The answer to that question depends upon whether (1) a rational client would have wanted to appeal or (2) Mr. Amboh demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing. And, if it is determined that counsel had a duty to consult with Mr. Amboh and failed in that duty, the question of prejudice must be addressed: whether there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's failure, Mr. Amboh would have timely appealed. *Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 469-84, 120 S. Ct. at 1035-38.

While Mr. Amboh's petition might have been better drafted by an attorney, it clearly raised the question of whether counsel rendered ineffective assistance in failing to file a timely

notice of appeal. This was a genuine issue of material fact and consequently, summary dismissal was inappropriate. *Hauschultz v. State, supra.* 

#### V. CONCLUSION

Because the District Court erred in both its conclusions – that the statute of limitation should not be tolled and that the petition did not raise a genuine issue of material fact regarding the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel – the order summarily dismissing Mr. Amboh's petition should now be reversed and the matter remanded for an evidentiary hearing.