Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-15-2010

Amboh v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 36779

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Jason Charles Amboh appeals from the district court's order summarily dismissing his petition for post-conviction relief.

Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings

Amboh pled guilty to driving under the influence and received a sentence of six years with two years fixed on June 28, 2007. (R., pp.11-12, 24.) Amboh filed an appeal on August 24, 2007, six days past the deadline for doing so. (R., p.24.) The Idaho Supreme Court dismissed Amboh's appeal as untimely and issued a remittitur on September 28, 2007. (R., p.24, 26.)

Amboh filed a petition for post-conviction relief in March of 2009, one year and five months after the issuance of the remittitur in Amboh's underlying criminal appeal. (R., pp.1-4.) The state filed an answer, a motion for summary dismissal and brief in support of the motion. (R., pp.50-61.) The district court held a hearing on the motion for summary dismissal. (See generally, Tr.) The district court dismissed Amboh's petition for post-conviction relief. (R., pp. 65-66.) Amboh timely appealed. (R., pp.67-69.)

ISSUES

Amboh states the issues on appeal as:

- 1. Should the statue of limitation be tolled given that Mr. Amboh's petition raises important due process claims and he did not discover the facts underlying his claims until after that time period had run?
- 2. Did Mr. Amboh's petition alleging trial counsel's ineffectiveness in failing to file a timely notice of appeal raise a genuine issue of material fact?

(Appellant's brief, p.2.)

The state rephrases the issue on appeal as:

Has Amboh failed to establish that the district court erred by summarily dismissing Amboh's untimely petition for post-conviction relief?

ARGUMENT

Amboh Has Failed To Establish The District Court Erred By Summarily Dismissing Amboh's Untimely Petition For Post-Conviction Relief

A. Introduction

The district court summarily dismissed Amboh's petition because it was untimely and because Amboh failed to establish a genuine issue of material fact. (R., p.66; Tr., p.10, L.25 – p.11, L.16.) Amboh challenges the dismissal of his petition and claims that he was entitled to equitable tolling of the statute of limitations for post-conviction petitions. (Appellant's brief, pp.4-5.) Amboh also asserts his petition presented a genuine issue of material fact based on ineffective assistance of counsel. Amboh's claims fail. He filed an untimely petition and did not demonstrate a valid claim for equitable tolling. In addition, Amboh's petition did not establish a prima facie claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

B. Standard of Review

On appeal from the summary dismissal of a post-conviction petition, the appellate court reviews the record to determine if a genuine issue of material fact exists, which, if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the requested relief. Matthews v. State, 122 Idaho 801, 807, 839 P.2d 1215, 1221 (1992); Aeschliman v. State, 132 Idaho 397, 403, 973 P.2d 749, 755 (Ct. App. 1999). Appellate courts freely review whether a genuine issue of material fact exists. Edwards v. Conchemco, Inc., 111 Idaho 851, 852, 727 P.2d 1279, 1280 (Ct. App. 1986).

C. Amboh's Petition for Post-Conviction Relief Was Untimely

A petition for post-conviction relief initiates a new and independent civil proceeding in which the petitioner bears the burden of establishing that he is entitled to relief. State v. Bearshield, 104 Idaho 676, 678, 662 P.2d 548, 550 (1983); Downing v. State, 132 Idaho 861, 863, 979 P.2d 1219, 1221 (Ct. App. 1999). Idaho Code § 19-4906 authorizes summary disposition of an application for post-conviction relief when the applicant's evidence has raised no genuine issue of material fact, which if resolved in the applicant's favor, would entitle the applicant to the requested relief. Downing, 132 Idaho at 863, 979 P.2d at 1221; Martinez v. State, 126 Idaho 813, 816, 892 P.2d 488, 491 (Ct. App. 1995).

A proceeding under the UPCPA "may be filed at any time within one (1) year ... from the determination of an appeal" I.C. § 19-4902(a). Absent a showing by the petitioner that the one-year statute of limitation should be tolled, the failure to file a timely petition for post-conviction relief is a basis for dismissal of the petition. Evensiosky v. State, 136 Idaho 189, 190-91, 30 P.3d 967, 968-69 (2001); Sayas v. State, 139 Idaho 957, 959, 88 P.3d 776, 778 (Ct. App. 2003).

Amboh filed an untimely appeal in his underlying criminal case. (R., p.24.) The Idaho Supreme Court dismissed his appeal (Id.) and issued a remittitur on September 28, 2007 (R., p.26). Amboh had one year from that date to file a petition for post-conviction relief. I.C. § 19-4902(a). Amboh filed his post conviction petition on March 11, 2009, more than five months late. Because Amboh's petition is untimely on its face, the only question is whether the untimely filing is excused.

Idaho courts have recognized that an untimely filing may be excused if the asserted claims "raise important due process issues." Rhoades v. State, 148 Idaho 247, ___, 220 P.3d 1066, 1069-70 (2009). The time for raising claims involving important due process issues may be tolled until the discovery of the violation. Id. at ___, 220 P.3d at 1070 (citing Charboneau v. State, 144 Idaho 900, 904, 174 P.3d 870, 874 (2007)). Even claims raising important due process issues are deemed waived, however, if not brought within a reasonable time of when the claims were known or should have been known. Id. "We have repeatedly held that ineffective assistance of counsel claims can or should be known after trial." Id. at __, 220 P.3d at 1072.

Amboh failed to show entitlement to tolling. His attorney informed him by letter on August 14, 2007 that although he filed an appeal for Amboh, it was late. (R., p.8.) In that same letter, Amboh's counsel informed him of his right to file a petition for post-conviction relief since his appeal time had expired and, as such, presumbably Amboh would not prevail on the underlying appeal. (Id.) Even if Amboh, as he alleges (Appellant's brief, pp.4-5), never received notice of the dismissal of his underlying criminal appeal to begin the statute of limitation for filing a post-conviction petition, he was on notice from August 14, 2007 forward that the underlying appeal may likely be dismissed because it was filed late. Thus, Amboh knew or should have known whether his counsel rendered deficient performance in the timing of filing an appeal in Amboh's criminal case. Bringing claims of lack of notice due to ineffective assistance of counsel in March 2009,

when those claims were known and should have been know from August of 2007 forward, is simply not a reasonable under the applicable law.

As discussed above, and pursuant to Rhoades, because the applicable law requires a claim not brought within a year to have been brought within a reasonable time based on when the claim was known or should have been know, Amboh is not entitled to tolling and his petition was untimely as a matter of law.

D. <u>Amboh's Petition For Post-Conviction Relief Failed To Establish A Prima</u> Facie Case Of Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel

In order to establish a prima facie case of ineffective assistance of counsel, a post-conviction petitioner must demonstrate both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); State v. Charboneau, 116 Idaho 129, 137, 774 P.2d 299, 307 (1989). An attorney's performance is not constitutionally deficient unless it falls below an objective standard of reasonableness, and there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct is within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Gibson v. State, 110 Idaho 631, 634, 718 P.2d 283, 286 (1986); Davis v. State, 116 Idaho 401, 406, 775 P.2d 1243, 1248 (Ct. App. 1989). To establish prejudice, a defendant must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Aragon v. State, 114 Idaho 758, 761, 760 P.2d 1174, 1177 (1988); Cowger v. State, 132 Idaho 681, 685, 978 P.2d 241, 244 (Ct. App. 1999). Bare assertions and speculation, unsupported by specific facts, do not make out

a prima facie case for ineffective assistance of counsel. Roman v. State, 125 Idaho 644, 649, 873 P.2d 898, 903 (Ct. App. 1994).

In addition to dismissing Amboh's petiton as untimely, the district court correctly found that Amboh failed to raise failed present a prima facie case ineffective assistance of counsel. (R., p.66; Tr., p.11, Ls.2-16.) In his petition, Amboh listed three arguments related to ineffective assistance of counsel: 1) that his trial counsel did not file a timely appeal in his underlying criminal case, 2) neither trial counsel nor appellate counsel informed him of the dismissal of his appeal in the underlying criminal case, and 3) "[i]neffective assistance of council [sic] during the criminal case and/or on appeal." (R., p.2.) He did not support these claims with evidence, however.

Amboh's own affidavit in support of his petition does nothing more than restate his claims. (R., p.6.) With relation to his trial counsel filing the appeal late, Amboh offers no explanation of when he directed trial counsel to file the appeal. (See generally, R., p.6.) The affidavit of Amboh's appellate counsel, however, notes that Amboh "had not notified his attorney that he wanted an appeal until . . . two days after the deadline had passed." (R., p.11.) Trial counsel's letter to Amboh does inform him that his attorney "d[id] not believe the appeal would be successful," and that although it was untimely (R., p.8), he "ha[d] filed the Appeal anyway." (R., p.8 (emphasis and capitalizion in original).) Amboh's petition and supporting evidence fails to demonstrate how the late filing of the appeal was due to ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

Amboh also claims his trial and appellate attorneys provided ineffective assistance of counsel because they failed to notify him of the dismissal of his underlying criminal case. Trial counsel's letter to Amboh did inform Amboh that the appeal was untimely filed and informed Amboh of his post-conviction rights in the event the appeal was dismissed. (R., p.8.) Amboh did not contact the SAPD's office about the disposition of his underlying criminal appeal until February of 2009 (R., p.11)—despite, as already discussed in detail, Amboh's knowledge regarding the likely dismissal of his underlying appeal and knowing he still had post-conviction rights with regard to that appeal. Amboh has failed to establish that failure to notify him of the dismissal of his underlying criminal appeal constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel on the part of trial or appellate counsel. In addition, Amboh has failed to establish prejudice because he has failed to allege any meritorious post-conviction claims he could have timely presented but for the failure to inform him of the dismissal of the underlying criminal appeal.

Amboh's petition also contains a very general claim that trial and appellate counsel failed to provide adequate representation. (R., p.2.) Beyond this blanket statement in Amboh's affidavit in support of his petition, that his trial attorney "failed to contact and discuss any issues with my case," (R., p.6), Amboh provides no specific examples or evidence of the alleged in effective assistance of counsel. Neither his trial attorney's letter or appellate counsel's affidavit addresses Amboh's bare claim of "ineffective assistance of council [sic] during the criminal case and/or on appeal." (R., p.2.) The only thing that can be

gleaned from those allegedly "supporting" documents is the fact that Amboh himself failed to contact both his trial and appellate counsel in a timely manner.

At the post-conviction hearing on the State's motion for summary dismissal, Amboh's attorney presented no additional evidence regarding ineffective assistance of trial counsel in the underlying criminal case. (See generally, Tr.) Instead Amboh's post-conviction counsel argued that because no one informed Amboh of the dismissal of his appeal and "that as he was incarcerated at the time, it was very difficult for him to become aware of the disposition on the appeal," that the district court should not grant the state's motion for summary dismissal. (Tr., p.8, L.12 – p.9, L.22.)

Whether in his petition, during the motion on summary dismissal or in this appeal, Amboh has never made any argument as to why anything trial or appellate counsel did—by failing to file a timely appeal or failing to notify Amboh of the date of the dismissal of his underlying criminal appeal—did in fact fall below an objective standard of reasonableness. Nor has Amboh ever argued that if either attorney did fall below that standard how Amboh was prejudiced or the outcome of the case would have otherwise been different. The district court did not have to accept Amboh's bare claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and properly dismissed his petition for failing to establish a prima facie case.

Amboh filed an untimely petition for post-conviction relief and has not demonstrated he was entitled to an equitable tolling of the statue of limitations. In addition, Amboh has failed to establish a prima facie case for ineffective

assistance of trial or appellate counsel. The district court properly granted the State's motion for summary dismissal.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's order dismissing Amboh's petition for post-conviction relief.